FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/6/2020 11:29 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/18/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99102-2

[Court of Appeals No. 79933-9-I]

# IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Justin Helmbreck,

Petitioner,

٧.

Paula McPhee and John Doe McPhee, Laura Elliott And John Doe Elliott, City Of Des Moines, Washington,

Respondents.

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Brian P. Russell, WSBA #10715 17820 First Avenue South, Ste. 102 Normandy Park WA 98148 (206) 244-3200 bprattorney@msn.com Attorney for Petitioner

### **

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	
V.	REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW	
Moine B. Evide Instru C. Instru Causi Collis D.	The Court Of Appeals Erred In Affirming The Trial Court's sing Of Summary Judgment Dismissing The City Of Deses	
VI.	CONCLUSION18	

# **APPENDICES**

- A. Unpublished Opinion
- B. Motion to Publish

### **Table of Authorities**

Keller v. City of Spokane, 146 Wn.2 237, 249 44 P.3d 845 (2002)		
Laguna v. Washington State Department of Transportation, 146 Wn. App. 260, 192 P.3d 374 (2008)5		
Millson v. City of Lynden, Corp., 119 Wn.App. 807, 82 P.3d 244 (2003)		
Nguyen v. City of Seattle, 179 Wn.App. 155, 317 P.3d 5186, 9, 10, 11		
Owen v. Burlington Northern and Santa Fe R.R. Co., 153 Wn.2d 780, 787-88, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005)2, 10		
Wright v. City of Kennewick, 62 Wn.2d 163, 381 P.2d 620 (1963)		
Wuthrich v. King County, 185 Wn.2d 19, 366 P.3d 926 (2016)2, 9, 10, 11		
Other Authorities		
Des Moines Municipal Code (DMMC) 18.190.1706		
WPI. 33.0112		

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Justin Helmbreck, seeks review of the decision identified below.

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the unpublished decision terminating review entered by Division One of the Court of Appeals on September 14, 2020 in which the court affirmed judgment on a jury verdict in favor of Petitioner. *Helmbreck v. McPhee, et. al.*, 79933-9-I (Sept. 14, 2020), hereinafter Helmbreck. A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding prior notice is a required element of a negligence claim against the City of Des Moines (hereafter City)? This issue warrants review because the Court of Appeals holding improperly imposes a new element in a negligence claim made against a government entity rather than the legally required elements to establish negligence against any other person or entity. RAP 13.4(b)(1); (3); (4).

- 2. Did the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with this court's decision in *Keller v. Spokane*, 146 Wn.2 237, 249 44 P.3d 845 (2002); *Owen v. BNSF*, 153 Wn.2d 780, 787-88, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005) and *Wuthrich v. King County*, 185 Wn.2d 19, 366 P.3d 926 (2016)? RAP 13.4(b)(1); (3); (4).
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals erroneously conclude substantial evidence at trial supported a failure to mitigate instruction? RAP 13.4(b)(2); (3).
- 4. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's jury instruction on the duty of a property owner which failed to include a property owner's duty to inspect their property and maintain vegetation on the property so it does not create hazardous conditions for motorists travelling on adjacent streets? (Instruction 15) RAP 13.4(b)(2); (3).

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Justin Helmbreck (hereinafter Helmbreck) was injured as a result of a motor vehicle collision on June 7, 2015.

\*Helmbreck\* at 2. His injuries resulted in subsequent spine surgery. Farrokhi Dep. CP 461-548. The collision occurred in the uncontrolled intersection of South 212th Street and 1st Place South in Des Moines WA. Both are Des Moines city

As ne approached the intersection at South 212th Street and the cross street of 1st Place South, a vehicle driven by Laura Elliott, was headed north on 1st Place South. Neither Heimbreck nor Elliott could see each other as they approached the intersection due to overgrown trees, shrubs, vines and vegetation growing on property owned by Paula McPhee. All of the sight obstructing vegetation was located in the City's right-of-way for its streets. CP 6-27; CP 69-96. Helmbreck, Elliott, Bouska Declarations, CP 107-120, 121-134, 135-156.

In December 2018, the trial court dismissed the City of Des Moines on summary judgment finding the City could not be held liable without actual notice of the dangerous condition resulting from the landscaping along City streets.

MSJ Order, CP 233-234, Reconsideration Order CP 262-263, 302-305.

The case proceeded to trial against the remaining defendants, Laura Elliott and Paula McPhee in February 2019. During the trial, the trial court instructed the jury on Helmbreck's failure to mitigate over the Plaintiff's objection.

Instruction 15. The court adopted the Defendants' proposed failure to mitigate instruction and McPhee's instruction that a property owner may not be liable for sight-blocking vegetation on their property unless the owner made or created the conditions that made the adjacent streets unsafe. RP Vol. 6, Feb. 28, 2019, P.116, 117, 142, 143. McPhee did not make or create the vegetation on her property. The vegetation on her property along So. 212th St. and 1st Pl. South existed since 2008 when she purchased it from the previous owner. Brian P. Russell Declaration in Response to McPhee Motion for Summary Judgment CP 160, 161.

The trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury that a property owner has a duty to inspect their property for dangerous conditions <u>and</u> a duty to maintain their property to prevent dangerous conditions. RP Vol. 6, Feb. 28, 2019, pp. 116, 117, 142 Helmbreck Proposed Jury Instruction, CP 341-369.

The jury, during deliberations, issued an inquiry to the court asking the court for guidance on whether negligence refers to the cause of the collision or to behavior after the

collision or both. The Court, over Helmbreck's objection, provided no response. Jury Note, CP 574, 575, RP Vol. 7, March 1, 2019, P.148-154.

The jury rendered its verdict finding no liability or negligence by property owner McPhee; finding Laura Elliott 15% responsible for the collision and Justin Helmbreck 85% responsible for the collision. Verdict, CP 576-578.

McPhee provided no evidence to dispute both drivers testimony that their sight was blocked of vehicles on the adjacent streets by the McPhee vegetation. Neither driver could see the other vehicle until they cleared the vegetation at the corner of the McPhee property which is when they are at the intersection with no opportunity to avoid a collision.

The trial court, in its Order on Reconsideration, clearly stated the Court's reasons for granting summary judgment and denying reconsideration which was "no prior notice of the dangerous condition." The trial court stated its reasoning by quoting: "Before a municipality may be liable for an unsafe condition it did not create, it must have notice of the condition and a reasonable opportunity to correct it." Citing *Millson v. City of Lynden, Corp.*, 119 Wn.App. 807, 82 P.3d

244 (2003), Wright v. City of Kennewick, 62 Wn.2d 163, 381 P.2d 620 (1963), Nguyen v. City of Seattle, 179 Wn.App. 155, 317 P.3d 518; Laguna v. Washington State Department of Transportation, 146 Wn. App. 260, 192 P.3d 374 (2008).

Des Moines argued it had no duty to anticipate dangerous conditions. The dangerous condition of Des Moines city streets was an actual not anticipated condition that had existed since at least 2008, seven (7) years before the motor vehicle collision. McPhee Testimony SRP 645, 649, 658, 659, 661, 666.

Des Moines acknowledged the McPhee vegetation was in the City's right-of-way with a duty to maintain it. Des Moines cleared the vegetation in its right-of-way in June 2018 following the Helmbreck-Elliott collision. Declaration of Brandon Carver, CP 69-70.

The City has an ordinance requiring hedges at street corners to have a height no more than 42 inches. The only evidence at the Summary Judgment was the McPhee vegetation far exceeded the DMMC height restriction.

\*Heimbreck\*\* at 2, 3, DMMC 18.190.170. CP 107-120; 121-134; 135-136. The City has a duty to enforce its ordinances.

These are questions of fact on whether the McPhee vegetation complied with the Des Moines Municipal Code and whether Des Moines was negligent in not enforcing its own code.

#### V. REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

A. The Court Of Appeals Erred In Affirming The Trial Court's Granting Of Summary Judgment Dismissing The City Of Des Moines.

The trial court, on summary judgment and the Court of Appeals affirming summary judgment erred in requiring Helmbreck to prove the City had actual knowledge of a dangerous condition on its streets and finding no questions of fact on the City's constructive knowledge of these dangerous conditions. *Helmbreck* at 12. The City not only had a duty to provide safe streets, but it had an additional duty imposed by its own municipal code. The Des Moines Municipal Code (DMMC) requires property owners of corner lots and reverse corner lots to maintain a triangular area at the corner of the property next to the street in which "no tree, fence, shrub or other physical obstruction higher than 42 inches above the established grade is permitted." DMMC

18.190.170. *Helmbreck* at 2,3. The evidence is undisputed at summary judgment and later at trial that the vegetation on the McPhee property in the City's right-of-way both exceeded the 42-inch height restriction and further was a wall of vegetation along both South 212 street and 1st Place South that prevented drivers on those streets from seeing vehicles on the adjacent street approaching the intersection. It is undisputed that both Elliott and Helmbreck could not see each other due to the vegetation in the City's right-of-way until they were at the intersection. It is also undisputed that the City failed to enforce its own code in requiring the vegetation on the McPhee property in its right-of-way to be no higher than 42 inches. *Helmbreck* at 2, 3.

Helmbreck, on summary judgment, argued that prior notice of the condition of the vegetation in the right-of-way was not required to support a duty of the City to maintain safe streets. Alternatively, Helmbreck argued that the City had constructive notice since the subject vegetation had existed in the City's right-of-way since 2008, 7 years before the motor vehicle collision. "Notice to the City may be actual or constructive. Constructive notice may be inferred from the

elapse of time a dangerous condition is permitted to continue". *Helmbreck* at 8. Citing *Nguyen v. Seattle*, *supra*. The facts viewed in favor of Helmbreck on summary judgment established the City had constructive notice of the dangerous condition on city streets.

The factual and legal contentions on summary judgment here mirror almost exactly those in *Wuthrich v. King County, supra*. Like *Wuthrich,* here a wall of roadside vegetation in the city's right-of-way made the roadway unsafe by blocking a driver's view of oncoming traffic at an intersection. Material questions of fact exist as to whether the City took reasonable steps to address this hazard.

The Court of Appeals, citing *Keller v City of Spokane*, *supra*, stated that the city generally is held to the same negligence standards as private parties stating that Helmbreck must prove duty, breach, causation and injury. *Helmbreck* at 7. To these elements, the Court of Appeals has added another which is prior notice. The Court of Appeals held that the city's duty is conditional and arises only when the government entity has notice of a hazardous condition in time to correct it. *Helmbreck* at 8. A motor

vehicle collision, due to sight-obstructing vegetation at an intersection of city streets was surely foreseeable.

Helmbreck at 8. The Court of Appeals distinguishes Owen v. Burlington Northern and Santa Fe R.R. Co., supra, by stating Owen held that the danger must be from a condition the city created or maintenance of the roadway itself. Heimbreck at 9. The Court of Appeals relied on Nguyen v. The City of Seattle, supra, stating that a city has no duty to inspect its streets as part of a duty to provide reasonably safe streets. *Helmbreck* at 9,11. How can a city insure reasonably safe streets if it refuses to inspect its streets and takes a blind eye to its streets' safety and condition? Yet, the Court of Appeals refuses to apply the holding in Wuthrich by stating: "nothing in Wuthrich suggests roadside vegetation is a hazardous condition inherent in the roadway." Helmbreck at 11. The Court of Appeals is requiring a condition not stated in Wuthrich. This court did not say that the vegetation must be a dangerous condition inherent in the roadway. The only requirement in Wuthrich was that the vegetation renders the adjacent roadways inherently dangerous.

When sovereign immunity was revoked, the City was held to the same negligence elements and standards as are required for an individual or corporation. Prior notice is not one of those elements. In the dissent in the Nguyen v. Seattle, supra, case, Judge Gross stated that notice of a dangerous condition is no longer required. The Court of Appeals states that Wuthrich did not overrule Nguyen v. Seattle or eliminate the notice requirement. **Helmbreck** at 11. A plaintiff is not required to prove notice of a condition the city should have anticipated. *Helmbreck* at 11, citing Nguyen v. City of Seattle. The dangerous condition of sightblocking vegetation was created by the City's failure to maintain vegetation in its right-of-way. It was an unsafe condition the city should have anticipated or was the result of the City's negligence in not maintaining its right-of-way. These are questions of fact that should have precluded summary judgment. The Court of Appeals then further held that the City has no duty to inspect its street or inform itself of the dangerous condition. Helmbreck at 11. The Court of Appeals, in this case, held there was no legal basis to establish a presumption that the City should have known of

the dangerous condition. The Court of Appeals establishes a new standard to contest a motion for summary judgment.

The Court of Appeals indicates that the nonmoving party must establish a legal basis for a presumption that the City had knowledge, or should have known, of the vegetation dangerous condition at the intersection. *Helmbreck* at 11.

Here, constructive knowledge exists where the offending vegetation existed for at least 7 years before the motor vehicle collision from 2008 through June of 2015.

# B. The Court Of Appeals Erroneously Found That Substantial Evidence Supported The Giving Of A Failure To Mitigate Instruction.

Helmbreck argued that no medical evidence and no substantial evidence supported the trial court's giving of a failure to mitigate instruction WPI 33.01. Trial Court Instruction 20, RP 116-117, 141-143. WPI 33.01 instructs the jury that a person is not liable for damage after the original injury caused by the injured person's failure to exercise care to avoid or minimize new or increased damages. The Court of Appeals confirmed that WPI 33.01 can only be given when substantial evidence is presented to support a claim that plaintiff failed to mitigate. *Helmbreck* at

18. To find substantial evidence, the Court of Appeals cited testimony that Helmbreck toughed it out following the motor vehicle collision and did not seek an orthopedic doctor for his back for 2 months after the motor vehicle collision. It also cited that 6 months after the collision Helmbreck tried intramural sports at college; that his doctor treated him with 2 epidural shots; that MRIs first disclosed in 2016 a disc bulge and in December of 2016 that the disc bulge had increased. *Helmbreck* at 18, 19. Mr. Helmbreck's surgeon, Dr. Farrokhi, performed a discectomy in December 2016. The Court of Appeals cited to Dr. Farrokhi's testimony and speculation on what might cause a disc herniation and that certain physical activities can cause herniation. *Helmbreck* at 20. Dr. Farrokhi was not asked specifically about Helmbreck's activities nor was he asked if these activities affected his injuries. There was no evidence nor substantial evidence that any activity Helmbreck engaged in caused further injury or treatment. There is no evidence he did not follow his medical treaters' advice. At best, the evidence cited by the Court of Appeals shows that Helmbreck continued some physical activities after the motor vehicle

collision, but there is no evidence this caused any further injury or aggravation. The Court of Appeals' reference to Dr. Farrokhi's testimony relies on pure speculation. Dr. Farrokhi was asked whether certain activities can cause herniation. but this does not meet the evidence standard for medical evidence or testimony on causation. None of this testimony by Dr. Farrokhi relates the speculation to Mr. Helmbreck. Further, the Court of Appeals refers to testimony by Dr. Farrokhi that it was unlikely that Helmbreck had no symptoms for 2 weeks but there was no evidence that Helmbreck, in fact, had no back symptoms for 2 weeks following the collision. *Helmbreck* at 21. The Court of Appeals isolated Farrokhi's testimony out of context to support its decision. Dr. Farrokhi's opinion as to the cause of Mr. Helmbreck's disc herniation and surgery was unequivocal. He testified they were both caused by the June 2015 motor vehicle collision. Farrokhi testimony, CP 461-548. The Court of Appeals also refers to Dr. Farrokhi's postsurgery letter relating to Helmbreck's disc injury and surgery rather than his trial testimony. The trial testimony rather than the letter was based on reasonable medical probability that

the motor vehicle collision caused Helmbreck's injury. The Court of Appeals concludes that the above medical evidence plus Helmbreck's testimony could allow a jury to conclude Helmbreck's injury was aggravated by his subsequent activities and, therefore, substantial evidence supported the mitigation instruction. *Helmbreck* at 21. There was no evidence or substantial evidence to support a failure to mitigate instruction and the court erred in instructing the jury on mitigation. There was no evidence tying or relating the activities of Mr. Helmbreck after the motor vehicle collision to his injury or aggravation of his injuries.

C. The Court of Appeals Erred In Affirming The Mitigation Instruction Which Caused The Jury To Confuse Negligence In Causing The Collision With Helmbreck's Activities After The Collision.

During deliberations, the jury issued an inquiry to the trial court asking "does the term negligence refer only to the cause of the collision or does it apply to behavior after the collision that may have contributed to any injuries? (or both?) Jury Note CP 574, 575. Helmbreck's counsel asked the trial court to answer the inquiry and clear up the confusion which the trial court refused to do. The jury subsequently found

Helmbreck 85% negligent in causing the motor vehicle collision. The Court of Appeals held this stated confusion in the jury's inquiry does not rebut the presumption that the jury will follow the court's contributory negligence instruction and verdict form. It concluded any confusion was cured because the jury was instructed to determine damages and not to consider contributory negligence. *Helmbreck* at 22,23. The Court of Appeals conflates the instructions relating to assessing damages to the instruction for the jury to determine negligence. What the mitigation instruction given by the trial court invited the jury to do, which their question clearly illustrates, is that the trial court's mitigation instruction allowed the jury to use post-motor vehicle activities to determine negligence in causing the motor vehicle collision. This allowed the jury to use post-motor vehicle collision activities to assess negligence in causing the collision and in reducing plaintiff's damages. The Court of Appeals concluded that they could not say that damages were inadequate as a matter of law. Farrokhi's and Helmbreck's testimony of post-collision activities had nothing to do with the cause of the collision and Helmbreck's negligence in

causing the collision. What the inquiry shows was the jury's intent to use post-injury actions to assess 85% liability to Helmbreck for causing the motor vehicle collision and in lessening his damages under a failure to mitigate (both). There was no substantial evidence connecting Helmbreck's post-motor vehicle collision activities with his injury nor in causing the collision. In fact, the only evidence specific to Helmbreck was the motor vehicle collision caused his back surgery.

D. The Court Of Appeals Also Erred In Affirming The Trial Court's Instruction On A Property Owner's Negligence.

Should the jury really only impose liability on the homeowner McPhee if she made or created the conditions which rendered the adjacent streets dangerous? McPhee testified that she did not make or create the vegetation conditions on her property since all the landscaping, including all the vegetation in the right-of-way, existed when she purchased the property in 2008. The jury instruction on the property owner's duty did not allow Helmbreck to argue his theory of the case that a property owner has a duty to maintain the property so it does not create hazardous

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