FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 11/5/2020 3:34 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/9/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99102-2

[Court of Appeals No. 79933-9-I]

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Justin Helmbreck

Petitioner,

v.

Paula McPhee and John Doe McPhee, Laura Elliott and John Doe Elliott, City of Des Moines, Washington.

Respondents.

RESPONDENT PAULA MCPHEE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Colton Arias, WSBA No. 54082 Jackie Jensen Erler, WSBA No. 44051 Mix Sanders Thompson, PLLC 1420 5th Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 521-5989 <u>colton@mixsanders.com</u> jackie@mixsanders.com Attorneys for Respondent Paula McPhee

A. Procedural History

This personal injury case arises from a two-vehicle accident that occurred at an uncontrolled intersection on June 7, 2015 when Petitioner (hereinafter "Helmbreck") failed to yield the right of way. 3 CP 694, 700; 1 CP 1-5. On February 1, 2018, Helmbreck filed suit and amended his complaint on June 13, 2018. *Id.* He brought suit against Respondents McPhee, Elliott, and the City of Des Moines. *Id.* On December 4, 2018, the trial court granted the City's motion for summary judgment and dismissed it from the case. 1 CP 234. The trial court affirmed its ruling over Helmbreck's Motion for Reconsideration. 1 CP 302-305.

On February 13, 2019, the case proceeded to trial against Respondents McPhee and Elliott, and the jury ultimately returned a verdict in favor of Defendant McPhee on March 1, 2019. Respondents' RP vol. 1, 1; 5 CP 2027-2029. The jury found McPhee not negligent, Respondent Elliott 15% liable, and Helmbreck 85% liable. *Id.*

B. Facts

On June 15, 2015 at approximately 1:00 p.m., Helmbreck was driving his 1997 Toyota pickup eastbound on South 212th Street uphill, approaching the intersection of 1st Place South in Des Moines, Washington.

5

3 CP 694. Respondent Elliott was driving her 2003 Lexus RX 300, traveling northbound on 1st Place South. *Id.* The vehicles approached the uncontrolled intersection at approximately the same, with Helmbreck being the disfavored driver. *Id.* Helmbreck failed to yield the right of way and the cars collided.

Respondent McPhee owns the residence situated on the southwest corner of 1st Place South and South 212th Street. 3 CP 695. At trial, Helmbreck alleged foliage growing along the northeast corner of McPhee's yard blocked his vision of the intersection causing the accident. 1 CP 327-329.

McPhee regularly maintained the foliage along the northeast corner of her property. 4 CP 1385-1386, 1392, 1394-1396, 1399. She was never put on notice that the foliage presented any visual obstacle to passing drivers, and Helmbreck presented no evidence that McPhee had reason to know the foliage could obstruct the line of sight for passing drivers. 4 CP 1393:18-20, 1415-1416.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Helmbreck seeks review under RAP 13.4(b), which provides:

"[a] petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant portion of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Helmbreck does not offer any argument explaining why this Court should accept review under the foregoing standards. For this reason alone, review should be denied. However, the following argument is offered to explain why, even if Helmbreck did apply the governing standard, review should be denied.

1. DIVISION ONE'S FINDING OF NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION BY THE TRIAL COURT IN GIVING THE WPI 33.01 MITIGATION INSTRUCTION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH ANY SUPREME COURT DECISION OR ANY PUBLISHED DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS.

Helmbreck fails to make the necessary showing that Division One's decision conflicts with a Supreme Court decision or a published decision of the Court of Appeals, as required by RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2). (Note that neither subsection (3) nor (4) were ever raised in this case at the trial court or Court of Appeals, so they will not be addressed here.) Indeed, Helmbreck fails to cite to any Supreme Court decision or published decision of the Court of Appeals that is contrary to, or in conflict with, Division One's

opinion in this case regarding WPI 33.01. He merely contends the trial court abused its discretion in giving the mitigation instruction arguing there was not enough supporting evidence.

When reviewing an appellant's challenge to jury instructions, the inquiry for the appellate court is "whether the trial court abused its discretion by giving or refusing to give certain instructions." *Goodman v. Boeing Co.*, 75 Wn. App. 60, 68, 877 P.2d 703 (1994), *aff*'d, 127 Wn.2d 401, 899 P.2d 1265 (1995), *amended* (Sept. 26, 1995); *see also Fox v. Evans*, 127 Wn. App. 300, 304, 111 P.3d 267 (2005). There is no error if the jury instructions allow each party to argue the theory of the case, are not misleading, and when read as a whole, inform the jury of the applicable law. *Goodman*, 75 Wn. App. at 68 (citing *Judd v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 63 Wn. App. 471, 820 P.2d 62 (1991)). "Even if an instruction is misleading...it will not require reversal unless prejudice is shown." *Id.* (citing *Thomas v. French*, 99 Wn.2d 95, 104, 659 P.2d 1097 (1983)). There is no prejudice unless the misleading instruction affects the ultimate outcome of the trial. *Id.*

In this case, Division One stated in its decision:

Helmbreck does not argue that the court should have given the instruction in WPI 33.02 over the instruction in WPI 33.01. Rather, he argues that there was no evidence to support the WPI 33.01 instruction. Because his argument does not involve a legal error in the instruction, we review the giving of the instruction

for an abuse of discretion. The question is whether there was substantial evidence to support giving the instruction in WPI 33.01.

Ct. of App. Div. 1. Unpublished Opinion, No. 79933-9I, Sept. 14, 2020 at pg. 18. Accordingly, Helmbreck does not argue there was any legal error or that Division One's decision is contrary to Washington precedent. He therefore fails to make the necessary showing under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Further, Division One correctly found enough evidence supporting the trial court's decision to give the mitigation instruction. Here, the Court of Appeals properly found there was no prejudice in giving the mitigation instruction. It explained that Helmbreck relied on *Fox v. Evans*, 127 Wn. App. 300, 111 P.3d 267 (2005) and *Hawkins v. Marshall*, 92 Wn. App. 38, 962 P.2d 834 (1998), where WPI 33.02 was the instruction at issue. *Ct. of App. Div. 1. Unpublished Opinion, No. 79933-9I, Sept. 14, 2020* at pg. 16-17. The Court of Appeals further explained that the trial court's mitigation instruction did not track the language of WPI 33.02, but instead, WPI 33.01. *Id.* at 17. The Court of Appeals stated that the mitigation instruction from WPI 33.01 should be given whenever substantial evidence is presented creating an issue for the jury as to the injured person's duty to mitigate. *Id.* at 18.

The Court of Appeals found there was substantial evidence supporting the instruction because medical testimony by Helmbreck's surgeon, Dr. Farrohki, combined with Helmbreck's testimony could allow a jury to conclude that Helmbreck's injury was aggravated by his subsequent actions. *Id.* at 21. Among all the evidence supporting the mitigation instruction, there is Helmbreck's own testimony that he tried to "tough it out," play basketball, lift weights and go to the gym about three times a week beginning ten days following the accident. *Id.* at 18. Two months after the accident, Helmbreck developed a pain that ran down his leg at all times and had an MRI showing damage to his disc and inflammation. *Id.* at 18-19. A couple of months later, Helmbreck played intramural sports and experienced pain when he jumped or ran. *Id.* at 19. In 2016, he had a second MRI of his back that showed a bulge sticking out of his lower vertebrae. *Id.*

Helmbreck's physical therapist advised him to not work out his lower body, including squats or anything putting weight on his back. *Id.* "Helmbreck testified that he continued playing basketball because he did not believe it put 'a load' on his back." *Id.* But he also testified, playing basketball felt like a "baseball bat" hitting his back. *Id.* Helmbreck ultimately underwent surgery on his back, performed by Dr. Farrohki. Dr. Farrohki testified at a deposition that squats, weightlifting, dead lifts, box jumps, basketball, and running can all cause disc herniations. *Id.* at 20. Accordingly, Division One properly affirmed the trial court's decision to give the mitigation instruction because, as Division Once cited, there was substantial evidence creating an issue for the jury as to whether Mr. Helmbreck's actions aggravated his injuries. Finally, and importantly, there was no prejudice because the instruction did not affect the ultimate outcome of the trial as it relates to Ms. McPhee; the jury found her to be not liable for the subject accident.

2. DIVISION ONE'S CONCLUSION THAT THE JURY'S DETERMINATION OF DAMAGES WAS NOT INADEQUATE AS A MATTER OF LAW DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH ANY SUPREME COURT DECISION OR PUBLISHED COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

Again, Helmbreck fails to make the necessary showing under RAP 13.4(b). He reiterates his arguments set forth in his appellate brief, that the jury was confused by the mitigation instruction. McPhee further raises the new issue for the first time here, that the jury's award was inadequate as a result of the instruction given. Of course, this is precluded by the RAPs. "Issues not raised in the trial court will not be considered for the first time on appeal." *Ruddach v. Don Johnston Ford, Inc.*, 97 Wn.2d 277, 281, 644 P.2d 671 (1982) (citing *Brown v. Safeway Stores, Inc.*, 94 Wn.2d 359, 617 P.2d 704 (1980). RAP 10.3(g) states in pertinent part: …"The appellate court will only review a claimed error which is included in an assignment of error or clearly disclosed in the associated issue pertaining thereto." RAP

10.3(g). Further, "This court will not consider issues that were not raised in the Court of Appeals." *In re Tobin*, 165 Wn.2d 172, 175 n. 1, 196 P.3d 670 (2008).

Even so, this is not a basis for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b) unless there was an error in giving the mitigation instruction. *See Goodman*, 75 Wn. App. at 68. There is no error if the jury instructions "(1) Permit each party to argue the theory of the case, (2) are not misleading, and (3) when read as a whole, properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable law." *Id.* "Even if an instruction is misleading...it will not require reversal unless prejudice is shown." *Id.* There is no prejudice unless the misleading instruction affects the ultimate outcome of the trial. *Id.*

At trial, the jury submitted the following question: "Does the term 'negligence' refer only to the cause of the collision, or does it apply to behavior after the collision that may have contributed to any injuries? (Or both?)." *Ct. of App. Div. 1. Unpublished Opinion, No. 79933-9I, Sept. 14, 2020* at pg. 21. The court responded: "Please see the instructions. Per Instruction No. 1. You must consider the instructions as a whole." *Id.*

The trial court also instructed the jury that "[c]ontributory negligence is negligence on the part of a person claiming injury or damage that is a proximate cause of the injury or damage claimed." *Id.* at 22. Finally, the trial court instructed the jury:

12

If you find contributory negligence, you must determine the degree of negligence, expressed as a percentage, attributable to the person claiming injury or damage. The court will furnish you a special verdict form for this purpose. Your answers to the questions in the special verdict form will furnish the basis by which the court will apportion damages, if any.

Id. The Court of Appeals reviewed Helmbreck's closing argument when his

counsel referred to the instructions and explained how damages would be

apportioned:

You're going to be asked in these instructions to assign percentages of fault amongst the three parties. I want you to understand how that percentage works in a legal setting and with compensation. So if you deliberate and you decide [Helmbreck] is 10 percent at fault or 40 percent at fault, or whatever percentage you come up with, the judge will take that percentage, he will multiply it times whatever compensation you come up with. And so what [Helmbreck] would receive is the compensation minus his percentage of contributory fault.

Id.

On the verdict form, the jury was instructed *not* to consider the issue of contributory negligence when calculating Helmbreck's damages. *Id.* Indeed, *before the jury allocated fault* on the verdict form, it found Helmbreck's damages to be \$29,000. *Id.* at 23. The Court of Appeals found the testimony of Dr. Farrokhi and Helmbreck allowed the jury to conclude Helmbreck's injury from the accident was less severe than the injury for which he had surgery. *Id.* Accordingly, the Court of Appeals determined

that the amount of damages was not inadequate as a matter of law. *Ct. of App. Div. 1. Unpublished Opinion, No. 79933-9I, Sept. 14, 2020* at pg. 23.

The jury instructions read as a whole, allowed Helmbreck to argue his theory of the case: that any actions of Helmbreck following the collision did not have any bearing on the cause of the collision. The jury was instructed to determine damages *before* allocating fault for the collision and Helmbreck argued in closing that the percentage of fault would be multiplied by the amount of damages determined by the jury. The mitigation instruction was not misleading, and even assuming, *arguendo*, that it was, when read with the other instructions and the special verdict form, it properly informed the jury of the applicable law. Most importantly, again, the mitigation instruction has no effect on the ultimate outcome as it relates to Ms. McPhee because the jury found her not at fault for the collision.

3. DIVISON ONE'S AFFIRMING OF THE TRIAL COURT'S INSTRUCTION ON A PROPERTY OWNER'S DUTY WAS IN ACCORDANCE WITH SUPREME COURT AND PUBLISHED COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS.

Helmbreck argues the instruction given to the jury regarding a property owner's duty did not allow him to argue his theory of the case. *See Helmbreck's Petition for Review*, pg. 17. Specifically, he argues "The jury instruction...did not allow Helmbreck to argue...that a property owner has

a duty to maintain the property so it does not create hazardous conditions on adjacent roadways." *Id.* 17-18.

The trial court gave the following instruction, which tracked the language in WPI 135.01:

An owner of property adjacent to a public road has a duty to exercise ordinary care in connection with the use of the property so as not to make, or create conditions that make, the adjacent way unsafe for ordinary travel or to cause injury to persons using the public road.

Ct. of App. Div. 1. Unpublished Opinion, No. 79933-91, Sept. 14, 2020 at

pg. 25. This instruction specifically states that a property owner has a duty to maintain their property so it does not create unsafe conditions on adjacent roadways, the same argument Helmbreck contends he was prevented from making.

Helmbreck proposed additional language to the instruction to also

include a property owner's "duty to inspect" for dangerous conditions:

... The owner of the property must inspect the property for dangerous conditions on the property and make such repair or maintenance or provide such warnings as may be reasonably necessary for the persons traveling on adjacent streets. The duty of reasonable care includes an affirmative duty to discover and remove dangerous conditions.

Id. at 24. Although there is no legal authority supporting a private landowner has an affirmative duty to inspect their property, Helmbreck was still allowed to argue this theory in his closing argument:

The evidence...has shown that the McPhee landscaping blocked the views of drivers on both adjacent streets. The rule and the law that the judge just gave you is that a property owner has a duty to exercise care so as to not allow any condition on her property that makes the adjoining street unsafe. Again, this is in your instructions, but what it says is a property owner...has a duty to exercise care, <u>which is an affirmative duty</u>. [It] doesn't <u>mean you can just sit back and ignore something or not</u> <u>actually exercise care to try to eliminate a hazard.</u> [She] has a duty not to allow a condition on her property that makes the adjoining streets unsafe.

Id. at 26 (emphasis added).

Washington law is clear: a private landowner does not have a duty to inspect her property for potentially dangerous conditions for adjacent roads. *See* WPI 135.01; *see also Lewis v. Krussel*, 101 Wn. App. 178, 187, 2 P.3d 486 (2000). The instruction given to the jury regarding a landowner's duty to maintain their property was taken verbatim from WPI 135.01, which states:

Duty of Owner of Occupier of Property Adjacent to a Public Way

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